RECEIVED

Jun 23 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Docket No. 18-ALJ-07-0047-CC
Appellate Case No. 2020-001090

Ex Parte: Coastal Conservation League, Appellant,

In Re:

KDP, II, LLC, Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Leslie S. Lenhardt
Amy E. Armstrong
SOUTH CAROLINA ENVIRONMENTAL LAW
PROJECT
P.O. Box 1380
Pawleys Island, SC 29598
(843) 527-0078

Attorneys for Appellant

Charleston, SC

June 23, 2021

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE ALC ERRED IN DENYING THE COASTAL CONSERVATION LEAGUE'S MOTION TO INTERVENE BECAUSE:**
- A. THE LEAGUE'S MEMBERS USE AND ENJOY THE BEACH/DUNE SYSTEM WHICH THE BEACHFRONT MANAGEMENT ACT IS DESIGNED TO PROTECT AND THEY WOULD BE ADVERSELY AFFECTED AND AGGRIEVED BY A DECISION TO MOVE THE BEACHFRONT JURISDICTIONAL LINES, AND THUS ANY DEVELOPMENT, SEAWARD.**
 - B. THE CASE IS IN ITS EARLY STAGES AND THE LEAGUE WOULD COMPLY WITH COURT DEADLINES, THUS INTERVENTION WOULD NOT UNDULY DELAY THE PROCEEDING NOR PREJUDICE THE EXISTING PARTIES; AND**
 - C. THE LEAGUE'S MOTION WAS FILED TWO MONTHS AFTER KDP'S REQUEST FOR CONTESTED CASE HEARING AND WAS TIMELY.**
- II. WHETHER THE ALC ERRONEOUSLY READ § 48-39-280 AS A LIMITATION ON THE LEAGUE'S ABILITY TO INTERVENE, WHEN THE STATUTE AS A WHOLE CONFERS CERTAIN RIGHTS AND PROTECTIONS TO THE LEAGUE AS MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC WHO USE AND BENEFIT FROM A HEALTHY BEACH/DUNE SYSTEM.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from the Administrative Law Court's denial of the Appellant, Coastal Conservation League's ("the League") Motion to Intervene in a contested case proceeding. The underlying contested case arises from the Department of Health and Environmental Control's (DHEC) proposed new beachfront jurisdictional lines which were issued on October 6, 2017, (R. pp. 81-87), pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-280, and its Notice extending the comment period and final determination for those proposed lines which was issued on November 3, 2017. (R. pp. 88-89). As a result of DHEC's proposed lines and notice, Respondent KDP II, LLC (KDP) submitted a Request for Final Review Conference before the DHEC Board on November 20, 2017. (R. pp.90-118). That request was denied on January 5, 2018. (R. pp.119-120). KDP then filed a Notice of Request for Contested Case Hearing in the South Carolina Administrative Law Court (ALC) on February 5, 2018, seeking to have DHEC's proposed beachfront jurisdictional lines be moved seaward. (R. pp.121-155). DHEC filed a motion to dismiss, alleging that KDP failed to exhaust its administrative remedies, that its appeal was moot and that it lacked standing. (R. pp.156-161). The ALC denied the motion on March 28, 2019. (R. pp.13-30). KDP filed a motion for reconsideration, which was not ruled on. Instead the Court entered a Consent Order of Stay and Remand on June 6, 2019, wherein the contested case was remanded to DHEC in order "to allow it to make a considered determination in accordance with the applicable statutes and regulations" and receive additional information from KDP. (R. pp.10-12).

Pursuant to the Consent Order, the Department was to issue its final determination no later than August 15, 2019; however, the parties consented to additional time and DHEC issued its decision on remand on December 6, 2019. (R. pp.189-203). KDP filed a Request for Final Review

Conference before the DHEC Board on December 23, 2019 (R. pp. 204-229), which was denied on February 10, 2020. (R. pp. 294-295). KDP then filed a Renewed Request for Contested Case Hearing After Remand and Request to Lift Stay on March 6, 2020. (R. pp. 296-301). Appellant filed its motion to intervene on May 26, 2020. (R. pp.302-306). The ALC denied the motion by Order dated July 10, 2020. (R. pp. 1-7).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court may affirm the ALC or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is: (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; (c) made upon unlawful procedure; (d) affected by other error of law; (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(5). The standard of review for a motion to intervene is whether the court abused its discretion in denying the motion. *S.C. Tax Comm'n v. Union Cty. Treasurer*, 295 S.C. 257, 260, 368 S.E.2d 72, 74 (Ct. App. 1988).

ARGUMENT

Factual and Legal Overview

Respondent, KDP II, LLC, (KDP) owns land on Kiawah Island in Charleston County, South Carolina, which includes an area known as Captain Sams Spit. The Spit is an approximately 174-acre land mass attached to Kiawah Island by a narrow strip of land called “the neck.” *S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. SCDHEC & Kiawah Development Partners II*, 2018 WL 4854113 at *4 (Admin. Law Judge Div. 2018, hereinafter “the 2018 ALC Order”). KDP has proposed a 50-house development on the Spit, which has been at the heart of an ongoing controversy involving the same parties to the present case. In order to accomplish its development plans, KDP must run infrastructure through the narrow neck of the Spit, and because of the significant erosion on the Kiawah River side of the Spit, it has sought to fix that shoreline with an erosion control structure.

Id. The controversy has resulted in two Supreme Court opinions overturning permits to facilitate that proposed development. *Kiawah Development Partners, II, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 766 S.E.2d 707 (2014) (hereinafter “*KDP I*”); *Kiawah Development Partners, II, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 422 S.C. 632, 813 S.E.2d 691 (2018) (hereinafter “*KDP II*”). Another case challenging development permits for the 50-house development on the Spit is now pending before the Supreme Court.¹ *S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. SCDHEC & Kiawah Development Partners II*, Appellate Case No. 2019-000074; 2018 ALC Order, 2018 WL 4854113. The League has been the Petitioner/Appellant in each of these cases.

The League is a non-profit membership corporation representing its members who regularly use and enjoy the public trust beaches and other natural resources of the South Carolina coastal zone. (R. p. 302-306). The League’s mission is to protect the threatened resources of the South Carolina coastal plain — its natural landscapes, abundant wildlife, clean water, and quality of life — by working with citizens and government on proactive, comprehensive solutions to environmental challenges. (R. p. 323). Members of the League boat, kayak, fish and otherwise recreate on the public trust lands and waters surrounding Kiawah Island. *Id.* Rich Thomas, a member of the League, submitted an Affidavit describing his frequent visits to Captain Sams Spit, both by kayak and by bike, to fish and observe the abundant wildlife and natural beauty of the Spit. (R. p. 353). His enjoyment of this valuable natural resource would be diminished if the access road and infrastructure are constructed, along with the development of 50 houses. *Id.* Mr. Thomas testified that moving the jurisdictional lines seaward, as requested by KDP, would facilitate this construction by providing additional space in the narrow access corridor. *Id.*

¹The League’s affiant, Rich Thomas, also provided testimony in this case.

Because of the League's desire for maintaining access to and use of the public trust tidelands surrounding Captain Sams Spit, and in maintaining a dry sand beach without structures located too close to the beach/dune system, it has an interest in DHEC's regulatory authority over these areas. (R. pp. 302-306). Section 48-39-280 of the Beachfront Management Reform Act requires DHEC to set beachfront lines, called the setback and base lines, which establish the agency's regulatory authority over certain activities pursuant to the Act. The Act has recently been amended twice, once in 2016 and once in 2018. 2016 Act No. 197 prohibited the baseline from ever moving seaward from its position on December 31, 2017. 2018 Act No. 174 amended that section to provide that:

A baseline established pursuant to this section must not move seaward from the most seaward location of the following:

- (a) the location of the baseline as established during the 2008 through 2012 establishment cycle;
- (b) the location of the baseline as proposed by the department on October 6, 2017; and
- (c) the location of the proposed October 6, 2017, baseline as revised by the department pursuant to a review or an appeal initiated before January 1, 2018.

S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-280(A)(4). It also provided a process for administrative review.

On October 6, 2017, the Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) proposed new beachfront jurisdictional lines pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-280. On November 3, 2017, DHEC issued a Notice extending the comment period and final determination for those lines until April 6, 2018. (R. pp. 88-89). The Notice explicitly stated that the agency would begin issuing final jurisdictional line determinations in May, 2018, and concluding on December 31, 2018. *Id.* In reaction to DHEC's Notice, Respondent KDP II, LLC (KDP) submitted a Request for Final Review Conference before the DHEC Board on November 20, 2017, which was denied. (R. pp. 90-118). Thereafter, KDP filed a Request for Contested Case hearing in the

ALC. (R. pp. 121-155). KDP asserted that the agency's Notice extending the comment period and final determinations was a *de facto* denial of its desire to move the baseline seaward of the October 6, 2017 proposed lines. DHEC filed a motion to dismiss alleging that KDP failed to exhaust its administrative remedies and that its appeal has become moot as a result of the statutory time frames. (R. pp. 156-161). The ALC denied the motion, but recognized that DHEC had not issued a final agency decision on the merits contemplating seaward movement of the line, and found that KDP had thus not exhausted its administrative remedies. (Order, R. pp. 13-30). Ultimately, the contested case was remanded back to DHEC to make such final determinations by consent of the parties. (Order, R. pp. 10-12).

I. The League Has Met the Standard for Intervention

The South Carolina Administrative Law Court Rules create a permissive standard for intervention, allowing any person to intervene so long as three conditions are met:

- (1) The movant will be aggrieved or adversely affected by the final order;
- (2) the interests of the movant are not being adequately represented by existing parties, or that it is otherwise entitled to intervene;
- (3) that intervention will not unduly prolong the proceedings or otherwise prejudice the rights of existing parties.

SCALC Rule 20(b). The ALC Rules place special emphasis on the issue of timeliness: "The motion for leave to intervene shall be filed as early in the proceedings as possible to avoid adverse impact on the existing parties or the disposition of the proceedings." SCALC Rule 20(C).

The ALC ruled that Appellant failed to meet this standard and may not intervene in the pending contested case because it will not be aggrieved or adversely affected by the decision in the case; intervention would cause undue delay and prejudice to KDP; and Appellant's motion was untimely. However, the ALC's findings and conclusions fail to apply South Carolina rules on intervention and

legal precedent. First, Appellant has an important interest in the outcome of this case – protecting South Carolina’s beaches for the benefit of the public- that existing parties cannot adequately defend on their own. Second, Appellant’s intervention will meet the Court’s deadlines and will not cause harm to KDP. Third, Appellant’s motion is well within time limits established by South Carolina courts. Appellant has met the standards outlined in the statute, as discussed below.

A. The League Will Be Adversely Affected and Aggrieved

In *Smiley v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, the Supreme Court interpreted the language “adversely affected” or “aggrieved” as “a person with a direct stake in the outcome of a litigation—even though small—from a person with a mere interest in the problem. We have allowed important interests to be vindicated by plaintiffs with no more at stake in the outcome of an action than a fraction of a vote, ... a \$5 fine and costs, ... and a \$1.50 poll tax [W]e see no reason to adopt a more restrictive interpretation of ‘adversely affected’ or ‘aggrieved.’” 374 S.C. 326, 332, 649 S.E.2d 31, 34 (2007) (citing *U.S. v. Students Challenging Regulatory Agency Procedures*, 412 U.S. 669, 93 S.Ct. 2405, 37 L.Ed.2d 254 (1973)). Though *Smiley* involved constitutional standing, the court’s interpretation of what it means to be “adversely affected or aggrieved” should be applied here, particularly as no appellate court has interpreted those terms in the context of SCALC Rule 20(B).

South Carolina Courts have interpreted intervention under SCRCF Rule 24, which contains a slightly different standard than ALC Rule 20, to require that the intervenor must prove it has an interest in the case and that its interest will be harmed without its intervention:

SCE&G must: (1) establish timely application; (2) assert an interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of the action; (3) demonstrate that it is in a position such that without intervention, disposition of the action may impair or impede its ability to protect that interest; and (4) demonstrate that its interest is inadequately represented by other parties.

Berkeley Elec, Co-op., Inc. v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 302 S.C. 186, 189, 394 S.E.2d 712, 714 (1990) (citing *Sagebrush Rebellion, Inc. v. Watt*, 713 F.2d 525, 527 (9th Cir. 1983)).

While not binding, the ALC has relied on SCRCP Rule 24's impairment/impediment standard and held that “[f]or intervention purposes, a person ‘will be aggrieved or adversely affected by the final order’ if final disposition of a matter may impair his ability to protect his interests.” *S.C. Coastal Conservation League & Michael Storen v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control & Tony A. Berenyi*, 1998 WL 229742, at *2 (S.C. Admin. Law Judge Div. 1998) (citing ALC Rule 20(B)).

Importantly, the Supreme Court held that **the question of a party's interest “must be determined in relation to the overall subject matter of the action and not in relation to the particular issue that is before the Court.”** *Berkeley Elec. Co-op., Inc. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 302 S.C. 186, 190, 394 S.E.2d 712, 714 (1990) (emphasis added) (citing *Sagebrush Rebellion, Inc. v. Watt*, 713 F.2d 525 (9th Cir. 1983)). The Sagebrush test further requires that the prospective intervenor demonstrate that without its intervention, the disposition of the case may impair or impede its ability to protect its interest. To meet that requirement, a party need not prove that it would be bound in a res judicata sense by the judgment, only that it would have difficulty adequately protecting its interests if not allowed to intervene. *Berkeley Elec. Co-op., Inc. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 302 S.C. 186, 190–91, 394 S.E.2d 712, 715 (1990) (citing *Spring Construction Co., Inc. v. Harris*, 614 F.2d 374 (4th Cir.1980)). Although not a per se rule, a governmental entity is likely to be an inadequate representative of private party's interests. *Berkeley*, 394 S.E.2d at 716 (1990); *see also In re Sierra Club*, 945 F.2d 776 (4th Cir. 1991).

It is worth noting that the Coastal Conservation League is a public interest organization that

has routinely been permitted to intervene in cases involving DHEC's interpretation and application of the Coastal Zone Management Act. *Summer House Horizontal Prop. Regime v. SCDHEC*, 1998 WL 268396 (S.C. Admin. Law Judge Div. 1998); *Wedgfield Plantation Homeowners Ass'n v. SCDHEC*, 2005 WL 1520475 (S.C. Admin. Law Judge Div. 2005); *City of N. Myrtle Beach v. SCDHEC*, 2009 WL 1744571 (S.C. Admin. Law Judge Div. 2009); *See, e.g., Hill v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 389 S.C. 1, 698 S.E.2d 612 (2010); *Risher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 712 S.E.2d 428 (2011); *Spectre, LLC v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 386 S.C. 357, 688 S.E.2d 844 (2010).

In this case, the League's interests are twofold.

First, the Beachfront Management Act established a statutory scheme designed to protect the public's use and enjoyment of the beach, among other things. Specifically, the General Assembly found that:

The beach/dune system along the coast of South Carolina is extremely important to the people of this State and serves the following functions:

- (a) protects life and property by serving as a storm barrier which dissipates wave energy and contributes to shoreline stability in an economical and effective manner;
- (b) provides the basis for a tourism industry that generates approximately two-thirds of South Carolina's annual tourism industry revenue which constitutes a significant portion of the state's economy. The tourists who come to the South Carolina coast to enjoy the ocean and dry sand beach contribute significantly to state and local tax revenues;
- (c) provides habitat for numerous species of plants and animals, several of which are threatened or endangered. Waters adjacent to the beach/dune system also provide habitat for many other marine species;
- (d) **provides a natural healthy environment for the citizens of South Carolina to spend leisure time which serves their physical and mental well-being.**

S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-250(1)(emphasis added).

The General Assembly also found that “without adequate controls, **development unwisely has been sited too close to the system.** This type of development has jeopardized the stability of the beach/dune system, accelerated erosion, and endangered adjacent property. **It is in both the public and private interests to protect the system from this unwise development.**” S.C. Code Ann § 48-39-250(4) (emphasis added).

The General Assembly went on to adopt a policy to:

protect, preserve, restore, and enhance the beach/dune system, the highest and best uses of which are declared to provide:

(a) protection of life and property by acting as a buffer from high tides, storm surge, hurricanes, and normal erosion;

(b) a source for the preservation of dry sand beaches which provide recreation and a major source of state and local business revenue;

(c) an environment which harbors natural beauty and enhances the well-being of the citizens of this State and its visitors;

S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-260(1) (emphasis added).

Thus, the Act itself is designed to protect public use of the beach/dune system, including use by League members like Rich Thomas, and to prevent unwise development too close to that system. This goal is accomplished, in part, through the establishment of jurisdictional beachfront lines pursuant to § 48-39-280, which govern the types of construction which may occur within these jurisdictional lines. *See generally* S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-290.

Second, the League’s interest in the outcome of this contested case is directly linked to the other contested cases that similarly impact the outcome of the proposed future development on Captain Sams Spit. In the first contested case filed in early 2009, the League challenged DHEC’s issuance of a critical area permit that would have authorized construction of 270’ of a vertical bulkhead combined with a sloping

rock revetment along the Kiawah River side of the Spit. *KDP I*, 411 S.C. 16, 766 S.E.2d 707 (2014). KDP challenged DHEC's denial of the remaining 2,513' of bulkhead/revetment system. *Id.* The ALC reversed DHEC's denial authorizing the entire 2,783' of bulkhead/revetment system. *Id.* The League appealed that decision, which, after two rehearings, resulted the Supreme Court's Opinion reversing and remanding the ALC's decision to issue the permit for the bulkhead/revetment. *Id.* KDP sought the bulkhead/revetment to permanently fix the location of the eroding shoreline "in order to facilitate a residential development on the adjacent highland area." *Id.* at 22, 711. While *KDP I* was pending before the Supreme Court following the ALC's Order on Remand, the ALC conducted a second contested case hearing on the League's challenge to a new set of permits authorizing the construction of an access road, water and sewer lines, and a 2,370' steel sheet pile wall along the Kiawah River, also to facilitate the proposed residential development on Captain Sams Spit. *S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. SCDHEC & KDP, II*, 2018 WL 4854113 (Admin. Law Judge Div. 2018, hereinafter "the 2018 ALC Order").² In the steel wall appeal, the ALC found that Captain Sams Spit is "an undeveloped, drumstick-shaped piece of land that is connected to Kiawah Island by a narrow strip of land referred to as 'the neck.'" *Id.* The ALC found that to "stabilize the neck and facilitate development on the Spit, KDP proposes to install a 2,380-foot steel sheet pile to stop erosion along the Kiawah River." *Id.* at 6.

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