RECEIVED

Apr 02 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001090

Ex Parte: Coastal Conservation League,.....Appellant,

In Re:

KDP, II, LLC,Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control,.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT KDP, II, LLC

G. Trenholm Walker (SC Bar #5777)
Thomas P. Gressette, Jr. (SC Bar #14065)
Walker Gressette Freeman & Linton, LLC
P.O. Box 22167
Charleston, SC 29413

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT KDP, II, LLC

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

The current state of the underlying case is also important to consideration of Rule 20(B)(3)’s requirement that requested “intervention will not unduly prolong the proceedings or

otherwise prejudice the rights of existing parties.” This matter has already been significantly delayed. See Order at p. 5 (“Petitioner has been denied a timely final adjudication on the merits for more than thirty-two months. The addition of the League as a party at this late stage would [improperly prolong] the proceedings which have already been unduly delayed through no fault of Petitioner.”). The contested hearing is set for August 24, 2021, less than five months from now. Allowing intervention at this late date would slow these proceedings and add an exponential amount of unnecessary work for the parties and their counsel.

KDP is entitled to a timely determination of the correct location of the baseline and setback line on the Property in this administrative proceeding between it and the appropriate regulatory agency.

The ALC’s finding and conclusion that the intervention by the League will unduly prolong the proceedings and otherwise prejudice Petitioner per SCALC Rule 20(B)(3) is fully supported:

The addition of the League as a party at this late stage would introduce new attorneys and witnesses and added discovery (written and depositions) thereby prolonging the proceedings which have already been unduly delayed through no fault of Petitioner. Intervention by the League would also serve to exponentially increase the time and costs incurred by Petitioner in preparing for and trying this contested matter where any possible interest the League may have is speculative at best.

Order at 5.

The ALC decision on the League’s failure to establish the necessary element for intervention under SCALC Rule 20(B)(3) does not constitute an abuse of discretion. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the ruling of the ALC.

C. THE ALC PROPERLY FOUND THE LEAGUE’S MOTION WAS UNTIMELY PER SCALC RULE 20(C).

In order to intervene in an ALC matter, a party must establish the requirement for timeliness set forth in SCALC Rule 20(C), which mandates:

Time for Motion for Intervention. The motion for leave to intervene shall be filed as early in the proceedings as possible to avoid adverse impact on the existing parties or the disposition of the proceedings.

SCALC Rule 20(C).

The importance of timeliness is repeated through cases analyzing SCALC Rule 20(C), such that the League readily admits that the “ALC Rules place special emphasis on the issue of timeliness.” Brief at 6.

As part of the intervention analysis, the ALC is to make findings on this element and those findings are not disturbed on appeal unless they demonstrate a clear abuse of discretion by the lower court. Here, the ALC correctly found that the League’s Motion to Intervene failed to meet the timeliness requirements of SCALC Rule 20(C) and was not a “manifest abuse of discretion” required for the reversal. See Ex parte Builders Mut. Ins. Co., 431 S.C. 93, 98–99, 847 S.E.2d 87, 90 (2020) (An appellate court reviewing a decision on intervention “will not disturb the trial court’s decision absent a manifest abuse of discretion that results in an error of law.”).

Analyzing the timeliness of the League’s Motion to Intervene, the ALC wrote, “SCALC Rule 20(C) provides that a motion to intervene ‘shall be filed as early in the proceedings as possible to avoid adverse impact on the existing parties or the disposition of the proceedings.’ Order at 5. Then, addressing head-on the League’s position that it did not know about this proceeding and had, therefore, moved timely to intervene, the ALC stated:

The League asserts that “it was unaware of the existence of this particular appeal” and that even if it had been so aware, it maintains that it would not have been appropriate to intervene during the pendency of a motion to dismiss.

This case has been pending with the Court since February 5, 2018 and is a matter of public record. Thus, even if the League did not have actual knowledge of this pending case, the League should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a request for a contested case hearing had been filed and sought to intervene in a timely manner so as to not prejudice existing parties to the litigation.

(Order at 5)

Firmly rejecting the League’s professed ignorance of this proceeding based on the contrary facts, the ALC continued by addressing the actual knowledge of the League:

Moreover, other facts indicate that the League was aware as early as 2016 that the baseline for the Property would be set in 2017. An article in the Post & Courier quoted Dana Beach, the League’s executive director as stating, “setting it [the baseline] next year will put the setback line in the river and the baseline 100 feet back in the former dunes.”³

Mr. Beach’s comments were reiterated on November 8, 2016.⁴

(Order at 5).

The League’s Motion also boasted that the League has been monitoring all events at the Captain Sams over the past ten years and has challenged “each and every permit approval authorizing impacts in furtherance of development of the Spit.” (Motion at p.2) The record does not contain a single credible statement or fact to contradict the League’s own statements. Further, the League did not contest that this proceeding is currently scheduled for trial in August 2021 and

³ Citing to Hurricane Confirms Instability of Capt. Sam’s Spit, Post and Courier, October 16, 2016, available online at https://www.postandcourier.com/opinioneditorials/hurricane-confirmsinstability-of-capt-samsspit/article_1cba2d94-9643-11e6-8d44-974a15f79888.html

⁴ Citing to A Wedge in the Sand: Nature Intervenes in Construction Line Controversy: Hurricane Matthew moved the battle lines on Kiawah Island’s controversial Captain Sam Spit, The Journal of Light Construction, November 8, 2016, available online at: https://www.jlconline.com/coastal-contractor-news/nature-intervenes-in-construction-line-controversy_o.

that its intervention would require the trial be postponed indefinitely, imposing considerable prejudice on KDP that has been trying for more than three years to proceed with the contested case hearing.

The ALC's finding that the League's Motion to Intervene was untimely under SCALC Rule 20(C) was not an abuse of discretion and should be affirmed.

II. THE LEAGUE FAILED TO MAKE THE REQUIRED SHOWING UNDER RULE 20(B)(2) THAT THE DEPARTMENT WOULD NOT ADEQUATELY PROTECT ITS INTERESTS IN SUSTAINING THE DEPARTMENT'S DETERMINATION OF THE JURISDICTIONAL LINES, ONE OF THE NECESSARY SHOWINGS TO INTERVENE AS A MATTER OF RIGHT.

Because of the ALC's findings and conclusions regarding the League's failure to meet the requirements of SCALC Rules 20(B)(1), 20(B)(2), and 20(C), the ALC was not required to make a determination whether the League established the Department will not adequately protect its interests in advocating for its delineations of the baseline and setback line, an essential prerequisite for intervention pursuant to Rule 20(B)(2). The League completely failed to meet this requirement for intervention as well. Analysis of SCALC Rule 20(B)(3) likewise justifies the ALC's denial of intervention.⁵

It is essential to note that neither the League's Motion to Intervene nor its Brief claims that the Department's defense of KDP's appeal of the delineation is or was insufficient, legally or

⁵ Respondent KDP submits Argument II as additional sustaining grounds. This Court may affirm the ALC's decision "for any reason appearing in the record, [and] the prevailing party may—but is not required to—raise additional sustaining grounds to support the lower court's decision. Dreher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 412 S.C. 244, 250, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015) (citing Rule 220(c), SCACR); see also I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 417, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 722, 723 (2000) ("In raising an additional sustaining ground in an appeal, the party who prevailed in the lower court urges an appellate court to affirm the lower court's ruling for a reason other than one primarily relied upon by the lower court.").

factually. Significantly, the League does not contend that it would advocate for the location of the baseline in a location that is different in any respect from the location being advanced by the Department. The League makes no mention of any claimed shortcoming in the Department's advocacy for its delineation of these two jurisdictional lines. The League does not say what it would do that the Department has not done or will not be doing if it was permitted to intervene. The League does not put forward any affidavits of experts or any other witnesses related to the location of the lines, much less ones that advance facts, opinions, or positions that are not being advocated by the Department.

In its Brief the League relies on caselaw involving South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 24(a), Intervention of Right. This Rule provides for intervention "when the applicant claims an interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of the action and he is so situated that the disposition of the action may as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest," except in circumstances where "the applicant's interest is adequately represented by existing parties." SCRCP 24(a)(2). Intervention as a matter of right thus depends on a showing that the League's interests are not adequately represented by the Department.

Because the League is a mere stranger and not an affected landowner, it has no interest at stake in KDP's appeal of the baseline and it has no remedy available to it in this proceeding. Nevertheless, the League asserts its interests in this case are twofold: "First, the Beachfront Management Act established a statutory scheme designed to protect the public's use and enjoyment of the beach, among other things." Brief at 10. "Second, the League's interest in the outcome of this contested is directly linked to the other contested cases that similarly impact the outcome of the proposed future development on Captain Sams Spit." (Id.)

As to the first of the two claimed interests, the ALC's determination of the appropriate

location of these two jurisdictional lines *on the private property of KDP* does not have any effect whatsoever on the public's use and enjoyment *of the beach*. The League conveniently omits noting that the public's rights (and its members' rights) to recreational use of the beach stop at the mean high water line. The League and the public have absolutely no recreational interest in the dunes on KDP's private property.

Just as important for the analysis of whether the League established a basis for intervention as a matter of right, the League completely fails to demonstrate how or why the Department cannot properly protect the public's interest in the use of the beach. This protection is a statutory responsibility of the Department under the Coastal Zone Management Act and the Beachfront Management Act.

Furthermore, the League has admitted that it wants exactly what the Department wants – it has no different interests. (KDP Opposition to Mtn at p. 9 and Exhibit A) According to the website for the League's attorneys, the Motion to Intervene seeks an order “upholding DHEC's 2017 jurisdictional line determination and preventing it from moving seaward.” Advocates Propose to Intervene in Effort to Revise Jurisdictional Lines on Captain Sams Spit, SCELP Press Release, posted May 26, 2020, available online at: <https://scelp.org/posts/view/184>.⁶ Here, the League admits the Department is asserting the positions that the League wants advanced. There is no conflict between the positions of the League and the Department.

The League's second alleged interest also does not support this needed basis for intervention. The League's members' claimed recreational use of the river tidelands in other litigation is irrelevant. This case does not involve public trust tidelands. It involves locating the

⁶ See Exhibit A KDP Response (R. pp. __)

baseline and setback line on KDP's upland outside the critical area. The League's argument that it is committed to preventing KDP from impairing the public's use of tidelands is completely unrelated to showing that the Department cannot adequately represent the public's interest in its delineation of the baseline and setback line on KDP's upland.

The ALC correctly found that "The League has presented no evidence that a decision by the Court establishing the jurisdictional lines will result in any individualized or particularized harm." (Order at 4) So, even if it was proper for the League to somehow link these proceedings, the ALC correctly found that the League cannot even articulate a possible harm, much less a harm that is not being addressed by the Department.

Because the League failed to demonstrate the Department is incapable or deficient in its prosecution of the proof supporting its delineation of these two jurisdictional lines, the ALC's order denying intervention should be affirmed on this separate, independent basis. properly found within Her Honor's discretion that there is no justification for intervention.

III. THE LEAGUE FAILED TO ESTABLISH IT HAS STANDING TO INTERVENE ON BEHALF OF ITS MEMBERSHIP.

"In its most basic sense, '[s]tanding refers to a party's right to make a legal claim or seek judicial enforcement of a duty or right.'" Pres. Soc'y of Charleston v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control, 430 S.C. 200, 209–10, 845 S.E.2d 481, 486 (2020), reh'g denied (Aug. 7, 2020) (quoting S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Boulware, 422 S.C. 1, 7, 809 S.E.2d 223, 226 (2018)). It is well established across all types of actions that "[s]tanding to sue is a fundamental requirement in instituting an action." Id. (citing Joytime Distribs. & Amusement Co. v. State, 338 S.C. 634, 639, 528 S.E.2d 647, 649 (1999)). Standing may be acquired (1) by statute, (2) under the principle of

“constitutional standing,” or (3) via the “public importance” exception to general standing requirements. Id. (quoting Freemantle v. Preston, 398 S.C. 186, 192, 728 S.E.2d 40, 43 (2012)).

The League never addressed standing before the ALC – not in its Motion to Intervene and not in its Return to KDP’s Response to the Motion to Intervene. Nevertheless, standing is an essential jurisdictional matter that may be raised at any time including on appeal. See Davidson v. Randall, 912 F.3d 666 (4th Cir. 2019). As set forth below, this Court should affirm the decision of the ALC based upon the additional grounds that S.C. Code § 48-39-280 limits standing to an aggrieved landowner who wishes to challenge a Department delineation per the statute and the League does not have standing under Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560–61, 112 S. Ct. 2130, as previously applied by this Court to reject the League in Beaufort Realty Co., 346 S.C. 298, 551 S.E.2d 588.⁷

A. S.C. CODE § 48-39-280 LIMITS STANDING TO AN AGGRIEVED LANDOWNER WHO WISHES TO CHALLENGE PER THE STATUTE.

Statutory standing exists when a statute confers upon a party the right to sue; determining whether a statute confers such standing is an exercise in statutory interpretation. Youngblood v. S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 402 S.C. 311, 317, 741 S.E.2d 515, 518 (2020); see also Pres. Soc’y of Charleston, 430 S.C. at 210, 845 S.E.2d at 486.

This proceeding is a landowner’s appeal of the Department’s establishment of the oceanfront jurisdictional lines on its land in accordance with specific provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-280. KDP owns the property subject to the delineation. The statute permits “A *landowner* claiming ownership of property affected who feels that the final or revised setback line, baseline, or erosion rate as adopted is in error, must be granted a review of the setback line, baseline, or

⁷ Respondent KDP submits Argument III as additional sustaining grounds. See also FN5, supra.

erosion rate, or a review of all three” S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-280(E) (double emphasis added). Per the plain language of the statute, the General Assembly granted this right of appeal solely to the landowner. The General Assembly did not extend that right to any other person who might claim to be potentially aggrieved by the delineation. In accord with this reasoning, this Court explained in Home Health Servs., Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control, 298 S.C. 258, 379 S.E.2d 734 (Ct. App. 1989) that when a statute creates a remedy of seeking judicial review to be carried out pursuant to the APA, S.C. Code § 1-23-380, a person who would not qualify for review of the agency decision likewise cannot participate in judicial review.

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